FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
10/28/2024 2:08 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/29/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 1035829

NO. 39733-5-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

KELLY BALLES,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR YAKIMA COUNTY

The Honorable Jeffrey Swan, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CHRISTOPHER H. GIBSON
Attorney for Petitioner
NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC
The Denny Building
2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250
Seattle, Washington 98121
206-623-2373

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Kelly Balles, respondent below, asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals published split decision referenced below.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Balles seeks review of the court of appeals published split decision in <u>State v. Balles</u>, __ Wn. App. 2d __, __ P.3d __, No. 39733-5-III, 2024 WL 4352326 (Slip Op filed September 27, 2024). A copy of the slip opinion is attached as an appendix.

C. <u>REASONS WHY REVIEW IS WARRANTED</u>

Review of the Court of Appeals decision in <u>Balles</u> is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4) because the majority opinion conflicts with decisions of this Court and numerous Court of Appeals decisions, involves significant questions of law under the Fourth Amendment and Wash. Const. art 1, sec. 7, and involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court.

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did <u>State v. Blake</u>, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021), issued February 25, 2021, concluding Washington's strict liability drug possession statute, RCW 69.50.4013, was unconstitutional, immediately render all judgments and sentences for convictions under that statute void and unenforceable?
- 2. Did <u>Blake</u> immediately invalid a pre-<u>Blake</u> issued Department of Corrections (DOC) administrative warrant for an alleged violation of community custody conditions imposed for a conviction under RCW 69.50.4013?
- 3. Did post-<u>Blake</u> execution of a pre-<u>Blake</u> issued DOC administrative arrest warrant for an alleged violation of community custody conditions imposed for a conviction under RCW 69.50.4013 violate Balles' right to privacy under the Fourth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. 1, sec. 7 and therefore the evidence discovered as a result of the warrant must be suppressed?

4. Does law enforcement have a duty to know and abide by the current state of the law?

E. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

The majority opinion in <u>Balles</u> succinctly sets forth the relevant facts as follows:

[In 2014,] Kelly Balles was convicted of unlawful possession of a controlled substance and sentenced to community custody under the supervision of the Department of Corrections (DOC). While on community custody, Mr. Balles failed to report to his community corrections officer (CCO), resulting in the issuance of a DOC secretary's warrant for his arrest. Thereafter, in State v. Blake, the Supreme Court declared unconstitutional the statute under which he was convicted. 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021). After the court issued its opinion, but before the mandate issued in Blake, the DOC served the secretary's warrant on Mr. Balles. While serving the secretary's warrant, Mr. Balles was found to be in possession of a large quantity of controlled substances and a stolen firearm. The State charged Mr. Balles with two counts of possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver, first degree unlawful possession of a firearm, and possession of a stolen firearm.

Mr. Balles moved to suppress the evidence seized during his arrest, arguing that <u>Blake</u> voided his unlawful possession of a controlled substance conviction, thereby invalidating the secretary's

warrant. The trial court agreed, suppressed the evidence, and dismissed the charges.

Appendix, Majority. Op. at 1-2.

The majority in Balles summarized its holdings as follows:

We hold that Mr. Balles' conviction for unlawful possession of a controlled substance was not "void on February 25, 2021[,] per the <u>Blake</u> decision," Clerk's Papers (CP) at 86; that the secretary's warrant was valid when it was served[.] . . . We reverse the trial court's orders and remand for further proceedings.

Appendix, Majority Op. at 2.

The dissent in <u>Balles</u>, however, reached a different conclusion and summarized it as follows:

This court again measures the extent of the reach of the Washington Supreme Court's 2021 decision, State v. Blake, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 581 (2021). On January 28, 2020, one year before the release of State v. Blake, the Washington Department of Corrections (DOC) issued a warrant for the arrest of Kelly Jay Balles, then under community custody supervision for a drug possession conviction. Balles had missed a meeting with his community corrections officer. On February 25, 2021, the Supreme Court issued State v. Blake, which held unconstitutional RCW 69.50.4013, the statute creating the crime of possession. DOC had not yet served the warrant on

Balles. On March 31, 2021, DOC served the warrant on Balles at his residence, where the officers found not only Balles but a cornucopia of pharmacopeia and drug dealing gizmos.

This appeal asks whether the <u>Blake</u> decision, released on February 25, invalidated, as of March 31, the secretary's warrant to arrest Kelly Jay Balles. Because stare decisis demanded that government officials immediately obey the <u>Blake</u> decision and because, based on the rule announced in <u>State v. Blake</u>, the State had imposed Kelly Jay Balles' community custody conditions on an unlawful judgment and sentence, I answer in the affirmative. I would affirm the superior court's grant of Balles' motion to suppress the evidence discovered during the March 31 execution of the DOC administrative warrant.

Appendix, Dissenting Op. at 1.

F. ARGUMENT FOR REVIEW

1. REVIEW IS WARRANTED BECAUSE THE MAJORITY OPINION CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN <u>STATE V. WHITE</u>, AND DECISIONS OF THE COURT OF APPEALS.

a) Relevant Post-Blake Decisions

Not including <u>Balles</u>, there are at least nine categories of post-<u>Blake</u> published Washington decisions that provide some guidance on the issue at hand, but do not control the outcome. They include holdings that post-<u>Blake</u>;

- i) convictions under RCW 69.50.4013(1) must be vacated.

 See e.g., State v. LaBounty, 17 Wn. App. 2d 576, 581, 487 P.3d

 221 (2021);
- ii) prior simple drug possession convictions cannot be used to calculate a post-<u>Blake</u> offender score, even if the conviction has not yet been vacated. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>State v. Jennings</u>, 199 Wn.2d 53, 67, 502 P.3d 1255 (2022);

¹ 97 Wn.2d 92, 103, 640 P.2d 1061 (1982).

- iii) committing an offense while on community custody for simple drug possession does not add an offender score point, even if the conviction has not been vacated. See e.g., State v. French, 21 Wn. App. 2d 891, 893, 508 P.3d 1036 (2022);
- iv) an out-of-state conviction for drug possession cannot be included in calculating on offender score because the Sentencing Reform Act requires out-of-state convictions be "comparable" to a Washington offense, which no longer existed post-Blake. State v. Markovich, 19 Wn. App. 2d 157, 173-74, 492 P.3d 206 (2021), review denied, 198 Wn.2d 1036, 501 P.3d 141 (2022);
- v) an offender score point is properly added if an offense was committed while on community custody for an otherwise valid out-of-state- conviction for drug possession even though out-of-state drug possession conviction does not add an offender score point because not comparable to a Washington felony.

 State v. Roberts, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, 553 P.3d 1122, 1148 (2024);

vi) a conviction for bail jumping or escape that is predicated on a charge of simple drug possession remains a valid conviction, despite the unconstitutionality of the possession charge. See e.g., State v. Paniagua, 22 Wn. App. 2d 350, 352, 511 P.3d 113, review denied, 200 Wn. 2d 1018, 520 P.3d 970 (2022);

vii) a pre-<u>Blake</u> probable cause determination of simple drug possession authorizing a pre-<u>Blake</u> search was still a lawful search. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>State v. Moses</u>, 22 Wn. App. 2d 550, 552, 512 P.3d 600, <u>review denied</u>, 518 P.3d 205 (2022); <u>Matter of Pleasant</u>, 21 Wn. App. 2d 320, 339-41, 509 P.3d 295 (2022);

viii) a pre-Blake guilty plea to simply drug possession and other charges is not an invalid plea and may not be withdrawn, although the simple drug possession conviction must be vacated.

State v. Olsen, 26 Wn. App. 2d 722, 726, 530 P.3d 249 (2023), affirmed, __ Wn.3d __, 555 P.3d 868 (2024);² and

² This Court also recently issued a decision concluding a <u>Blake</u> voided conviction arising from a guilty plea that included several

ix) the court of appeals issued an unpublished decision holding a charge of escape from community custody, community custody ordered for a pre-Blake simple drug possession conviction and committed before Blake, could still be prosecuted post-Blake. State v. Biggs, No. 38830-1-III, 2023 WL 6121040, *1-5 (2023), review denied 2 Wn.3d 1025, 540 P.3d 30 (2024).

Collectively, these cases reveal a distinction between how Blake impacts sentencings versus how it impacted pre-Blake charges, guilty pleas, and probable cause determinations. If it involves sentencing, Blake is strictly applied to prevent using any aspect of a Blake-voided conviction to enhance punishment. Jennings, supra; French, supra. If it involves pre-Blake charges, guilty pleas or probable cause determinations, Blake has no impact. Paniagua, supra; Moses, supra; Olsen, supra.

other non-<u>Blake</u> effected offenses does not provide an exception to the time-bar under RCW 10.73.100 for challenging the guilty pleas to those other offenses, even though the simple drug possession conviction must be vacated. <u>State v. Willyard</u>, ___ Wn.3d __, 555 P.3d 876, 878 (2024).

None of these cases, however, directly address the issue here, which involves a pre-<u>Blake</u> administrative warrant issued after an alleged pre-<u>Blake</u> community custody violation, community custody imposed for a pre-<u>Blake</u> simple drug possession conviction but executed post-<u>Blake</u>.

b) State v. White

For at least the past four decades, it has been clear in Washington that law enforcement is expected to know when a statute has been deemed unconstitutional. State v. White, 97 Wn.2d 92, 103, 640 P.2d 1061 (1982), superseded by statute as recognized in State v. Graham, 130 Wn.2d 711, 716 n.2, 927 P.2d 227 (1996). White involved an arrest under a "flagrantly unconstitutional" statute. 97 Wn.2d at 103. Although the statute relied on for the arrest had not been expressly deemed unconstitutional, Washington courts had already found a virtually identical statute unconstitutional. Id. at 102 (citing Mountlake Terrace v. Stone, 6 Wn. App. 161, 492 P.2d 226 (1971)). The White Court concluded that "a reasonable person

would recognize the infirmities of" the statute and therefore would not have used it as a basis to seize a person. <u>Id.</u> at 104. As a result, the evidence collected was suppressed because the seizure and subsequent search were unlawful and therefore not reasonable under the Fourth Amendment. Id. at 104-05.

c) Analysis

Here, the issue is whether an administrative warrant issued pre-Blake remained valid and executable post-Blake. Based on this Court's reasoning in White, following Blake, a reasonable person, and in particular law enforcement officers, should have recognized that convictions and associated punishment under RCW 69.50.4013(1) were void and unenforceable. See Appendix, Dissenting Op. at 14-19 (discussing how for over four decades White has required law enforcement to be aware of relevant changes in the law). The majority opinion that such a conclusion "would place the DOC and its field officers in the untenable position of reviewing every appellate decision, interpreting the decision, and then imposing its interpretation on

those it supervises" conflicts with White and therefore review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Appendix, Majority Op. at 14.

A holding that following Blake that all convictions under RCW 69.450.4013 and the associated punishment were no longer enforceable does not offend the holdings in Paniagua and Biggs that pre-Blake bail jumping, escape, and escape from community custody convictions arising out of a Blake invalidated simple possession charge remain valid. 22 Wn. App. 2d at 352; 2023 WL 6121040, *1-5. It would not offend the holdings in in Moses and Pleasant that a pre-Blake search based on a pre-Blake probable cause determination for simple possession was still a valid search. 22 Wn. App. 2d at 552; 21 Wn. App. 2d at 339-41. And it would not offend the holding in Olsen that a pre-Blake guilty plea to simply drug possession and other charges is not an invalid plea even though the simple drug possession conviction must be vacated. 26 Wn. App. 2d at 726.

On the other hand, holding that the DOC's pre-Blake administrative warrant was invalid post-Blake would be in

harmony with the holding in Jennings that post-Blake, past simple possession conviction cannot be used in calculating an offender score. 199 Wn.2d at 67. It would be in harmony with French, which recognized that post-Blake, an offender score point may not be added for committing an offense while on community custody for a simple possession conviction even if that conviction has not yet been vacated because it was never a valid conviction to begin with. 21 Wn. App. 2d at 895-97. Finally, it would be in harmony with Markovich, which held that post-Blake, an out-of-state conviction for drug possession can no longer be included in calculating an offender score because the Sentencing Reform Act requires out-of-state convictions be "comparable" to a Washington offense, which no longer existed post-<u>Blake</u>. 19 Wn. App. 2d at 173-74.

As the Court in <u>French</u> noted, the <u>Blake</u> decision:

announced that courts were *never* with lawful authority to enter judgment on a conviction for unlawful possession of a controlled substance in violation of RCW 69.50.4013(1). Moreover, because courts were never with lawful authority to

enter judgment on a conviction for unlawful possession of a controlled substance, they were also never with lawful authority to impose a *sentence* pursuant to such a conviction. Had the superior court, under these circumstances, added a point to French's offender score for committing an offense while on community custody, the court would have "renewed" the original constitutional violation. State v. Holsworth, 93 Wash.2d 148, 157, 607 P.2d 845 (1980). Accordingly, the superior court did not err.

21 Wn. App. 2d at 897 (emphasis in original).

By holding DOC's pre-<u>Blake</u> administrative warrant remained valid post-<u>Blake</u>, the majority in <u>Balles</u> "'renewed' the original constitutional violation" stemming from Balles' unconstitutional 2014 simply drug possession conviction. <u>Id.</u>
The majority decision is therefore in conflict with <u>French</u>, <u>Jennings</u>, and <u>Markovich</u> and review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

2. REVIEW IS WARRANTED BECAUSE THIS PETITION INVOLVES SIGNIFICANT QUESTIONS OF LAW UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS AND INVOLVES AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE DECIDED BY THIS COURT.

The validity of a DOC warrant issued for a then valid crime, but not executed until after that crime is deemed unconstitutional raises significant question of law under the Fourth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. 1, sec. 7, and involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court. Specifically, this Court should decide whether law enforcement should be expected to know the current state of the law regarding the constitutional right of citizens to privacy and under what limited circumstances that right must lawfully give way to law enforcement efforts.

a) <u>Constitutional Right to Privacy</u>

Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution creates a vigorous privacy right. State v. Cornwell, 190 Wn.2d 296, 301-02, 412 P.3d 1265 (2018). It declares, "No person shall be

authority of law." Wash. Const. art 1, sec. 7 (emphasis added).

The "authority of law" generally stems from a warrant. State v.

Ladson, 138 Wn.2d 343, 349, 979 P.2d 833 (1999).

Under RCW 9.94A.631, a community custody officer may search a supervised individual based on reasonable suspicion of a probation violation, rather than a warrant supported by probable cause. Nevertheless, the community custody officer may not search without "an authorizing probation condition in a valid, court-ordered judgment and sentence." Cornwell, 190 Wn.2d at 302 n.2 (emphasis added).

Although there are some exceptions to the warrant requirement, none are at issue. Instead, the prosecution claimed the pre-<u>Blake</u> issued DOC administrative warrant was still a valid post-<u>Blake</u>, and therefore the evidence should not have been suppressed. The trial court concluded to the contrary. CP 84-88; RP 45-48.

b) Standard of Review on Suppression Rulings

A trial court's conclusions of law pertaining to suppression of evidence are reviewed de novo. State v. Levy, 156 Wn.2d 709, 733, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). A trial court's findings of fact pertaining to suppression of evidence are reviewed under the substantial evidence standard. Id. "Substantial evidence is 'evidence sufficient to persuade a fair- minded, rational person of the truth of the finding." Id. (quoting State v. Mendez, 137 Wn.2d 208, 214, 970 P.2d 722 (1999)).

"An appellate court reviews whether substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings of fact and whether the findings of fact support the conclusions of law." State v. Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311, 343, 150 P.3d 59 (2006). The issue here is whether the pre-Blake administrative warrant was still valid post-Blake. This is an issue of law that warrants de novo review. Levy, 156 Wn.2d at 733.

c) Review is Warranted Under RAP 13.4(b)(3) & (4).

The question of whether the DOC warrant remained valid after <u>Blake</u> raises concerns about the breadth of our constitutional privacy rights and whether law enforcement has a duty to keep abreast of the state of the law in general. Is the expectation that privacy rights will only be disturbed with "authority of law" somehow reduced if law enforcement is not expected to know what the law is? Wash. Const. art 1, sec. 7. As the dissent in Balles notes,

One of the long-standing and basic principles upon which our legal system depends is that all sane persons are presumed to know the law and are in law held responsible for their free and voluntary acts and deeds.

Appendix, Dissent at 18, (citing State v. Spence, 81 Wn.2d 788, 792, 506 P.2d 293 (1973), rev'd on other grounds, 418 U.S. 405, 94 S. Ct. 2727, 41 L. Ed. 2d 842 (1974)). It would seem to defy logic and common-sense to conclude that those responsible for

enforcing the law are not required to know what it is. This Court should grant review to resolve this question.

G. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated here and in Judge Fearing's dissent in <u>Balles</u>, this Court should grant review.

I certify that this document was prepared using word processing software and contains 2,936 words in 14 point font excluding those portions exempt under RAP 18.17.