FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/14/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1035829 COA 39733-5-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

KELLY JAY BALLES, Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jill S. Reuter, WSBA #38374 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2nd St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 9890

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT
B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 1
C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1
D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED
1. The Court of Appeals' decision reversing the trial court's orders suppressing evidence and dismissing the charges does not meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)
F. CONCLUSION14

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington State Cases Page
State v. Biggs, No. 38830-1-III, 2023 WL 6121040 (Wash. Ct. App. Sept. 19, 2023)
State v. French, 21 Wn. App. 2d 891, 508 P.3d 1036 (2022)
State v. Graham, 130 Wn.2d 711, 927 P.3d 227 (1996)8
State v. Jennings, 199 Wn.2d 53, 502 P.3d 1255 (2022)11
State v. Markovich, 19 Wn. App. 2d 157, 492 P.3d 206 (2021)
State v. Olsen, 555 P.3d 868 (Wash. 2024)10
State v. White, 97 Wn.2d 92, 640 P.2d 1061 (1982)8, 9
State v. Willyard, 555 P.3d 876 (Wash. 2024)10
Rules
GR 14.1(a)14
RAP 13.4(b)

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is the State of Washington.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

At issue is the Court of Appeals' published decision, filed on September 27, 2024 in Division Three of the Court of Appeals. One judge (Judge Fearing) dissented from the Court of Appeals' decision.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the Court of Appeals' decision reversing the trial court's orders suppressing evidence and dismissing the charges meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)?
- 2. Does the Court of Appeals' decision reversing the trial court's orders suppressing evidence and dismissing the charges meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2)?
- 3. Does the Court of Appeals' decision reversing the trial court's orders suppressing evidence and dismissing the charges meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3)?
- 4. Does the Court of Appeals' decision reversing the trial court's orders suppressing evidence and dismissing the charges meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4)?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kelly Jay Balles was found guilty of one count of possession of a controlled substance, in Yakima County cause number 14-1-00135-39. (CP 34, 52, 85). His sentence included a term of community custody, along with conditions of community custody. (CP 34, 52, 85; RP 16, 41-44).

Balles missed a meeting with his community corrections officer. (CP 85). The Depart of Corrections (DOC) then issued, on January 28, 2020, a Secretary's warrant for Balles. (CP 2, 48, 52, 85). The Secretary's warrant lacked any reference to Balles' crime of conviction or to RCW 69.50.4013. (CP 48).

On March 31, 2021, members of DOC and the Pacific Northwest Violent Offender Task Force were attempting to locate Balles. (CP 2, 52, 56, 60, 63, 85). They went to the residence located at 1300 Ashue Road in Wapato, which was Balles' listed address according to the Washington State

Department of Licensing, local Spillman returns, the court system Jabs, and DOC records. (CP 2, 52, 56, 60, 63, 85).

Approval was granted under DOC jurisdiction to force entry into the residence and take Balles into custody. (CP 52-53).

Officers entered the residence and located a bedroom that was secured by a padlock from the outside of the room. (CP 2, 53, 56, 60, 85). They cut the padlock and entered the room, discovering Balles inside the room, lying on a bed. (CP 2, 53, 56, 60, 63, 85). They also saw a plate with a rock of powdery crystal substance on it, consistent with contraband methamphetamine. (CP 2, 53, 56, 61, 63, 85).

Officers arrested Balles and brought him upstairs and placed him in a patrol vehicle. (CP 55, 60, 63, 85). Officers then requested permission to conduct a DOC search of the room where he was located, for drugs and/or drug paraphernalia. (CP 53, 56, 60-61, 85). During the search of his room, officers found a full box of ammunition under the mattress. (CP 53, 61, 63). Officers then requested permission to include firearms and

ammunition in the DOC search, which was approved. (CP 53, 61).

Officers then continued to search the room, including unzipping a duffel bag found under the bed. (CP 2, 53, 61, 63, 85). They located contraband in the duffel bag, including a likely controlled substance, what an officer believed to be approximately four to six pounds of suspected methamphetamine. (CP 2, 53, 56, 61-62, 63, 85).

The DOC search was then stopped. (CP 2, 53, 61, 63). Based on the information found in the search, the officers then contacted the Yakima County Superior Court to obtain a search warrant for the residence and outbuildings for drugs and firearms, which was approved. (CP 2, 53, 56, 61, 63-64, 86). Officers then resumed searching Balles' room and found a firearm, dominion items for Balles, U.S. currency, several pounds of suspected marijuana, a digital scale, and unused packaging materials. (CP 2-3, 53, 57, 61-62). The firearm, dominion items for Balles, some U.S. currency, and some

suspected marijuana were located in a dresser drawer. (CP 61-62).

On April 9, 2021, the State charged Balles with four crimes: possession of a controlled substance, methamphetamine, with intent to deliver; possession of a controlled substance, marijuana, with intent to deliver; first degree unlawful possession of a firearm; and possession of a stolen firearm. (CP 8-9).

On August 4, 2021, the State submitted, and the trial court entered, an order vacating Balles' 2014 conviction and dismissing it with prejudice. (CP 35, 86; RP 16, 41-44).

Balles filed a motion to suppress, arguing that any evidence seized during the search of his residence should be suppressed. (CP 33-69). He argued the evidence seized during the search of his residence should be suppressed, because his 2014 conviction for possession of a controlled substance was void under *State v. Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021), and therefore, he was not lawfully serving a term of community

custody and was not lawfully a probationer at the time of the search conducted here, which may have previously allowed a community corrections officer to search. (CP 38-45).

The trial court granted Balles' motion to suppress. (CP 84-88; RP 45-48). In its written conclusions of law, the trial court concluded that Balles' 2014 conviction was void on February 25, 2021, under the *Blake* decision, and therefore, the Secretary's warrant issued under that cause number was no longer valid, and the DOC search was also invalid. (CP 86).

The trial court entered an order dismissing the charges against Balles without prejudice. (CP 74; RP 52-53).

The State appealed. (CP 75-77).

In a published opinion, issued on September 27, 2024, the Court of Appeals, 2-1, reversed the trial court's orders that suppressed evidence and dismissed the charges, and remanded the case for further proceedings. The Court of Appeals concluded that on March 31, 2021, Balles was still subject to

the terms of his 2014 judgment and sentence, until his conviction was vacated.

Balles filed a Petition for Review, arguing this Court should grant review for the following reasons:

Review of the Court of Appeals decision in Balles is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(l)-(4) because the majority opinion conflicts with decisions of this Court and numerous Court of Appeals decisions, involves significant questions of law under the Fourth Amendment and Wash. Const. art 1, sec. 7, and involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court.

See Petition for Review, pg. 1.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

1. The Court of Appeals' decision reversing the trial court's orders suppressing evidence and dismissing the charges does not meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b).

Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Contrary to Balles' assertions, the Court of Appeals' decision reversing the trial court's orders suppressing evidence and dismissing the charges does not meet the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b).

First, under RAP 13.4(b)(1), Balles argues the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *State v*. *White*. *See* Petition for Review, pgs. 10-12; *see also State v*. *White*, 97 Wn.2d 92, 640 P.2d 1061 (1982), *superseded by statute as recognized in State v*. *Graham*, 130 Wn.2d 711, 716 n.2, 927 P.3d 227 (1996). Balles argues:

Based on this Court's reasoning in White, following Blake, a reasonable person, and in particular law enforcement officers, should have recognized that convictions and associated

punishment under RCW 69.50.4013(1) were void and unenforceable.

See Petition for Review, pg. 11.

However, *White* does not control here. *See White*, 97 Wn.2d at 102-04. In *White*, the defendant was arrested based upon a statute that had not yet been invalidated. *White*, 97 Wn.2d at 102-03. However, an ordinance with substantially similar language had previously been invalidated. *Id*. This Court invalidated the defendant's arrest, finding that based upon the similar ordinance previously invalidated, "[a] reasonable person would recognize the infirmities" of the statute upon which the defendant was arrested. *Id*. at 103-04.

In contrast here, a DOC officer complying with a court order that was based on a statute found unconstitutional is distinguishable from a law enforcement officer arresting an individual in the first instance. The DOC officer here was not enforcing an unconstitutional statute, but rather, complying with a court order. The DOC officer's actions here are a step

removed from a law enforcement officer enforcing a statute in the first instance.

Further, as the Court of Appeals recognized, the Secretary's warrant lacked any reference to Balles' crime of conviction or to RCW 69.50.4013. (CP 48); *see also* Slip Opinion, pg. 3.

In addition, this Court recently rejected the claim that unlawful possession of a controlled substance is a nonexistent crime, and void ab initio. *State v. Olsen*, 555 P.3d 868, 874-75 (Wash. 2024); *State v. Willyard*, 555 P.3d 876, 881-83 (Wash. 2024). This Court rejected attempts to withdraw guilty pleas to unlawful possession of a controlled substance entered prior to *Blake*, concluding that the crime was valid at the time of the guilty pleas. *Id.* These opinions support the Court of Appeals' conclusion here that "a conviction under RCW 69.50.4013(1) is not automatically vacated or invalidated." *See* Slip Opinion, pg. 12.

Balles also argues the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's opinion in *State v. Jennings*. *See*Petition for Review, pgs. 6, 12-14; *see also State v. Jennings*,
199 Wn.2d 53, 502 P.3d 1255 (2022). However, *Jennings* is
distinguishable from this case, because it considered a trial
court's sentencing authority, as opposed to the question here,
whether a DOC officer could ignore a court order. *See Jennings*, 199 Wn.2d at 67 (holding that a sentencing court may
not consider a prior conviction for possession of a controlled
substance under RCW 69.50.4013(1) when calculating an
offender score).

Second, under RAP 13.4(b)(2), Balles argues the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with decisions of the Court of Appeals. *See* Petition for Review, pgs. 6-10, 12-14. Balles argues the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *State v*. *French* and *State v*. *Markovich*. *See State v*. *French*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 891, 508 P.3d 1036 (2022); *State v*. *Markovich*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 157, 492 P.3d 206 (2021).

However, *French* and *Markovich* are distinguishable from this case, because they considered a trial court's sentencing authority, as opposed to the question here, whether a DOC officer could ignore a court order. *See French*, 21 Wn. App. 2d at 894 (holding the sentencing court properly declined add a point to the defendant's offender score for "commit[ing] the current offense while he was on community custody as a direct consequence of an invalid conviction."); *Markovich*, 19 Wn. 2d at 172-74 (concluding that an out-of-state drug possession conviction cannot be counted in the defendant's offender score post-*Blake*).

Finally, under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4), Balles argues the Court of Appeals' decision "raises significant question of law [sic] under the Fourth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. 1, sec. 7, and involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court." *See* Petition for Review, pgs. 15-19.

Balles argues:

Specifically, this Court should decide whether law enforcement should be expected to know the current state of the law regarding the constitutional right of citizens to privacy and under what limited circumstances that right must lawfully give way to law enforcement efforts.

Petition for Review, pg. 15.

He further argues "[i]t would seem to defy logic and commonsense to conclude that those responsible for enforcing the law are not required to know what it is." Petition for Review, pgs. 18-19.

However, as discussed above, the law enforcement officers here were not enforcing an unconstitutional statute, but rather, complying with a court order. Balles had a remedy; seek to invalidate the court order, which he later did. (CP 35, 86; RP 16, 41-44). This was the proper solution, rather than willfully violating the court order. *See, e.g., State v. Biggs*, No. 38830-1-III, 2023 WL 6121040, *1-5 (Wash. Ct. App. Sept. 19, 2023), *review denied*, 2 Wn. 3d 1025, 544 P.3d 30 (2024) (concluding

the trial court erred when it dismissed a charge of escape from community custody following *Blake*, where the defendant was on community custody for a possession of a controlled substance conviction; finding "[w]hen faced with a potentially invalid court order, the solution is not to willfully violate it."); *see also* GR 14.1(a) (authorizing citation to unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals as nonbinding authority).

Balles does not meet the criteria for review by this Court, set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Accordingly, Balles' petition for review should be denied.

F. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the Court of Appeals' opinion does not meet the criteria in RAP 13.4(b). As such, Balles' petition for review should be denied.

WORD COUNT CERTIFICATION

This document contains 2,197 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.